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New York, NY

Counsel for Defendant

KENNETH M. KARAS, United States Districtudge:

Lorenzo Melendez‘Plaintiff”) brings this Action againsthe New York Foundling, Inc.
(“Defendant”),alleging that Defendant terminated Plairgi#mployment on the basis of gender,
in violation of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 20@@seq,. that Defendant terminated
Plaintiff's employment because bis numerous complaints about Defendaih@alth and safety
problems, in violatiorof the New YorKWhistleblowerAct, N.Y. Labor Law 8740; and that

Defendant denied Plaintiff severarmayto which he was entitled, in violation of the Employee

Retirement and Security Act of 197&£RISA"), 29 U.S.C. 8§ 100&t seq Before the Couris
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Defendant Motion To Dismisgthe “Motion”). (Dkt. No. 30.)

For the following reasons, the Motiangranted in part and denied in part.

I. Background

A. Factual Background

The following facts are drawn from PlaintgfAmended Complaint, (Am Compl. (Dkt.
No. 16)), and are taken as true for the purpose of resolving the instant Motion.

Defendanis a New Yorkcorporation that, among other ventures, operates group homes
in New York, Rockland, Orange, and Westchester couttt@$ouse servie, and treatdults
with developmental disdliiies. (Am. Compl. § 4.) In November 2001, Plaintifds hired as a
resicentialdirector ofDefendants Residential Treatment Cent@rRockland County. I4. 1 6.)
Over the following decade, Plaintiff received sev&pabmotions and title changesjd(), andin
2013,Plaintiff became arssistant Vice Presiden{ld. I 14.) Plaintiff was thereafter selected
to oversee the opening of four new group home facilities in Staten Islahd. 16.) In
February 2014, Plaintiff performance evaluationas strongresuling in an “exceedsor
“meets” expectationsatingin all categories.(Id. 1 15.)

In late 2014, Plaintiff sustained a broken leg while at work and was absent for
approximately three months, returning in February 201b.9(19.) Upon his return, Plaintiff
noticedproblemgelating tothe lack of safety and training at t8&aten Islangroup homes for
which he was responsible and began to document thieim. Plaintiff reported such problems to
Jill Gentile(“Gentile”), a Senior Vice Presidentith Defendantrepeatedly requested additional
resourceso better tran staff, andstatedthat thehigh staff turnoverrate was creating safety and
quality problemdor the facilities residents (Id.  18—-20.) No action was taken in response to

Plaintiff scomplaints and requestdd.( 20.)



In August and October 201HeéNew Yok StateOffice for People with Developmental
Disabilities(the “Office”) conducted auditsf the Staten Island group homaesd found serious
safety deficiencieat two locations (Id.) The Office issuedwo “45-day Statements of
Deficiency that describedsystemic deficiencies in protective oversight, incident management,
and staffing training, amongst other areas of non-compliance and imminent aatinger t
residents.”(ld.)

An executive directoemployed byDefendant asked Plaintiff fa written explanation of
the cause of the problemdd.j Plaintiff submitted the requested informatidihd.) Defendant
thentransferredPlaintiff away from Staten Island and reassigned him to work primarily in
Rockland and Orange Countiesd. (f 21.) However,Defendant did not communicate to
Plaintiff thatthe transfeand reassignmemterefor disciplinary or performance reasonsd.)
Further, in August 2016, Defendant reassignetbgrammanagemwho had worked under
Plaintiff in Rockland and Orege Counties to another facilitieavingPlaintiff “without the
traditional support and . staffing that typically had existéd (Id. 1 23.) The program manager
was reassigned to work with a female Assistant Vice Presidenf]@23, 26.)

In September 2016, Defendant receigetiird45-day Statement of Deficiendgom the
Office for a facility under Plaintiffs management(ld. § 24.) Upon receipt of tha&ement
Plaintiff conducted amvestigationas required by state regulatiofig. § 28), and concluetl
thatthe facilitys residence managewvhowas lateffired, (id.  29), “had likely falsified records
certifying thatresidents had receivégtalthy and appropriate mealsd.(f 28). Plaintiff
reported his findings to Defendasmtuman resources departmemt November 18, 2016.1d()

Three days lateon November 21, 201&entileterminated Plaintifs employment with

Defendantia written memorandum, citing the three d&y Statements of Deficiency and the



alleged demotion to Rockland and Orange Counties.f 24.) Plaintiff allegeghatthese
reasons were pretextual atiét his termination wa factdue at least irpart to gender
discrimination. [d. 1125, 30—-31.) According to Plaintiff: (1) three other similargituated
Assistant Vice Presidents, albmen received numerous 4fay Statements of Deficiencies
between 2013 and 201yt were not fired(id. 1133-34) (2) Plaintiff's replacement as
Assistant Vice President waswoman (id. I 32) (3) the program manager who had been
transferred away from himm 2016 was transferred to suppokvaman (id. 1123, 26) and
(4) Plaintiff had not received a negative performance review or been otherwisdirtgstifd.
1 30).

Further, Plaintiff allegeshathis termination wadn part,a form ofretaliation for
Plaintiff's complaintsrelating toDefendants failure to provide necessary training, resources,
and supplies at certain facilitig®laintiff's his whistleblowing regarding Defendast’
employeés falsification of records(ld. 1135-38, 47-50.)

Finally, Plaintiff alleges that, after being terminated, Defendant refused to pay Plaintiff
severance pagueto himunder its publishedesverance plan(ld. 1139-46)

B. Procedural Background

Plaintiff filed his initial Complairt on August 15, 2017. (Dkt. No. 1Qn November 29,
2017, Plaintiff filed the instanAmended Complaint. (Dkt. No. 16Qn December 12017,
Defendanfiled a premotion letter indicating the grounds on whithnticipated movingo
dismiss. (Dkt. No. 19) Plaintiff filed aresponsivdetteron December 26, 2017. (Dkt. No..20
Following a conference held February 7, 2018, the Court adopted a briefing schedule. (Dkt. No.
22.) Defendant filed the instant Motion To Dismiss anedmpanying pagrs on May 14, 2018.

(Not. of Mot. (Dkt. No.30); Mem. of Law in Supp. of Mot. (“Def.’s Mem.”) (Dkt. No. 31)Pn



June 15, 2018, Plaintiff filed a memorandum in oppositidiem. of Law in Oppn to Mot.
(“Pl.’s Mem.”)(Dkt. No. 33).) Defendant filed a replgn July 6, 2018. Reply Mem. of Law in
Supp. of Mot. (“Def.s Reply) (Dkt. No. 34); Aff. of Joseph B. Cartafalsa, Esq. in Supp. of Mot.
(Dkt. No. 35).)
[l. Discussion

Defendanimoves to dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(b) on groundg1) that theNew York Whistleblower Act waiver provision
precludes Plaintifs Title VII claim; (2) that Plaintiff fails to allege sufficient facts showingth
Defendant severance plais covered by ERISA; and (3) théiecause both federal claims must
be dismissed, the Court should decline to exercise supplemental jurisdictidtiaagff’'s New
York Whistleblower Actclaim. (Def.’s Mem. 23.) The Court addresses each in turn.

A. Standard of Review

The Supreme Court has held that, whileomplaint “does not need detailed factual
allegations” to survive a motion to dismiss, “a plaintiff's obligation to provide thergls of his
entitlement to relief requires more than labels andlosians, and a formulaic recitation of the
elements of a cause of action will not dd&&ll Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)
(citations, quotation marks, and alterations omitted). Indeed, Rule 8 of the FedesabR0ivil
Procedure “demnds more than an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfaliyjedme accusation.”
Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). “Nor does a complaint suffice if it tenders naked
assertions devoid of further factual enhancemelat. (quotation marks and altgfon omitted).
Rather, a complaint’s “[flactual allegations must be enough to raise agigHief above the
speculative level. " Twombly 550 U.S. at 555. Although “once a claim has been stated

adequately, it may be supported by showing any seiots £onsistent with the allegations in the



complaint,”id. at 563, and a plaintiff need allege “only enough facts to state a claim tamealief
is plausible on its facejd. at 570, if a plaintiff has not “nudged [his or her] claim[] across the
line from conceivable to plausible, the[] complaint must be dismisgidsee also Igbal556
U.S. at 679 (“Determining whether a complaint states a plausible claim fémwwilie. . be a
contextspecific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judiciarexye and
common sense. But where the well-pleaded facts do nwitgée court to infer more than the
mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has alleged — but it has not ‘showfttjatthe

pleader is entitled to relief.” (citation omitted) (second alteration in originabt{aqg Fed. R.

Civ. P. 8(a)(2)))id. at 678-79 (“Rule 8 marks a notable and generous departure from the
hypertechnical, code-pleading regime of a prior era, but it does not unlock the doors ofrdiscove
for a plaintiff armed with nothing more than conclusions.”).

In considering a motion tdismiss, the Court “must accept as true all of the factual

allegations contained in the complainEtickson v. Parduss51 U.S. 89, 94 (2007) (per
curiam);see also Nielsen v. Rabird6 F.3d 58, 62 (2d Cir. 2014) (“In addressing the sufficiency
of a canplaint we accept as true all factual allegations..” (qQuotation marks omitted)).
Further, “[flor the purpose of resolving [a] motion to dismiss, the Coudraw([s] all
reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintifbaniel v. T & M Prot. Res., Inc992 F. Supp. 2d
302, 304 n.1 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (citirigoch v. Christie’s Int'| PLC699 F.3d 141, 145 (2d Cir.
2012)).

B. Analysis

1. Waiverof Title VII Claim

The New York Whistleblower Adbtars employers frortaking “any retaliatory personnel

action against an employeeho “discloss .. . to a supervisor . an actvity, policy or practice



of the employer that is in violation of law, rule or regulation which violation eseatd presents
a substantial and specific danger to the public health or safety, or edmstitutes health care
fraud.” N.Y. Labor Law § 740(2Ja). Employees may segkdicial relief against employers that
violate this statuteld. 88 740(4)(a), (5).However,under theAct’s waiver provision, the
institution of an action in accordance wjgh740] shall be deemed a waiver of the rights and
remedies available under any other contract, collective bargaining agreemenilé or
regulation or under the common lawld. § 740(7).

The scope oftte Actswaiver provision “has not been definitively decided by either the
Second Circuit or the New York Court of Appeal8arker v. Peconic Landing at Southold,
Inc., 885 F. Supp. 2d 564, 568 (E.D.N.Y. 201s¥e also Reddington v. Staten Island Univ.
Hosp, 511 F.3d 126, 134 (2d Cir. 2007) (noting that “courts have adopted differing and
sometimes contradictory limitgnconstructions of this waive(titations omitted) Courts
interpreting the waiver provisiorhave effectively sorted into two campHarisch v. Goldberg
No. 14-CV-9503, 2016 WL 1181711, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 25, 2016). Under the broad
interpretatiorof the provision, the waiver applies to claims that relate to the same retaliatory
action on which the [840 claim is based Cabrera v. Fresiirect, LLC, No. 12CV-6200,
2013 WL 4525659, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 27, 2013) (collecting cas&shpt is,"any claimsthat
arise out of the course of conduct forming the basis of thed@claim are barred.Barker, 885
F. Supp. 2d at 568 (collectingses).New York state courts have largely followtet broad
interpretation SeeSemeraro v. Woodner CiNo. 17€CV-8535, 2018 WL 3222542, at *7
(S.D.N.Y. July 2, 2018]fcollecting cases).

“However, New York federal coufthave adopted a “narrdyV interpreation of the

waiver provision. Id. (collecting caseskee also Barket885 F. Supp. 2d at 569 (collecting



cases) Under thignterpretationthe waiver applies only to “other legal rights and remedies that
protect against the sam&ongthat the statute itself prohibitsCollettev. St. Lukes Roosevelt
Hosp, 132 F. Supp. 2d 256, 263.D.N.Y.2001) That is,the waiverapplies only to “rights and
remedies concerning whistleblowindgfumphrey v. Rav Investigative & Sec.\8el td, 169 F.
Supp. 3d 489, 501 n.12 (S.D.N.Y. 2016}ation omitted) and does not bélegitimately
independent claims not related to whistleblowing even if the claims have ovegdpgis, such
as the same underlying retaliatory acficdDabrera 2013 WL 4525659, at *gitationand
guotation markemitted)

Defendant, of course, argues that this Court should adopt theibtequetation (See
Def’s Mem.3-4.) Yet, asarticulatedin the leadingnalysisof the issueseeCollette 132 F.
Supp. 2d at 260—74he narrowinterpretatior‘effectuates the [New York Whistleblowehct’'s
remedial purpose;d. at 274— namely,to “protect[] the rights of employees who report
violations of law that present a danger to public health or satetyker, 885 F. Supp. 2d at 569
— because itpermi{s] employees to pursue legitimately independent claims, while prohibiting
claims that duplicate or overlap the statutory remedies for retaliation onraaf
whistleblowing activity along Collette 132 F. Supp.@at274. Put another way, timarrow
interpretationby virtue ofnot “requiring the employee, as the price of asserting whistleblower
protection, to waive any rights he might have under independent causes of actios (such a
battery, or defamation, or sexual harassment, or employment discrimiriamijls creating a
“disincentive to invoke théAct's protection” that would “deter[] the very whistleblowing
conduct that the Act intends to encourag8tipkevichv. Staten 1&nd Univ. Hosp.No. 08CV-

1008, 2009 WL 1706590, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. June 16, 2q0Bxtion omitted) Accordingly, this

1 Separately, the narrow approach also avoids the “constitutional concerns yaased b



Court joins those other courts in this Circuit that, follow@lette interpretthe Acts waiver
provision to apply only to those claims relating to whistleblowing.

Applying thenarrow interpretabn, Plaintiff s Title VII claim isnot waived. Even
though the Title VII and whistlebloweetaliationclaims arise from the sarfieourse of
conduct” —namely,Plaintiff’s employment bypefendant, his complaints to Defendant
regarding conditions at its facilities, ahtermination by Defendanrt- they areclearly
“legitimately independent clainisCollette 132F. Supp. 2cat 274, that “seek to remedy
separate wnogs,” Cabrerg 2013 WL 4525659, at *3.Accordingly, the Title VII claim is not
waived. See Semerar@018 WL 3222542, at *8 (holding waiver provision does not bar
collective bargaining agreement clgjrduarte v. St. Barnabas Hos$265 F. Supp. 3d 325, 345
(S.D.N.Y. 2017) (holding waiver provision does not twda@ims under the federal, state, or anti
discriminatory statute3; CatapanoFox v. City ofNew York No. 14CV-8036, 2015 WL
3630725 at *9 (S.D.N.Y. 2015)same) Barker, 885 F. Supp. 2d at 569 (holding waiver

provision does not bdederal and state law disability discrimination clainkdamsky v. Chetrit

construction that requires the automatic waiver of a plaintiff's federal rightsmphrey v. Rav
Investigative & Sec. Servs. Ltd69 F. Supp. 3d 489, 501 (S.D.N.Y. BD{collecting cases)
see alscCollette 132 F. Supp. 2d at 266 (noting Supremacy Clause concerns under broad
interpretation of waiver provision).

2 Defendant’s argument that, even apply@wjlette Plaintiff's Title VII claim is waived
because it “arise[s] from the same wrong and [is] intertwined with the [fants][as]his’ New
York Whistleblower Act claim, (Def.’s Mem. 4), misrea@slletteand the cases followingy
Thekey inquiry is whetkr the two claims are “legitimately independentbllette 132 F. Supp.
2d at 274.Plaintiff's Title VII gender discrimination claim is independent from his
whistleblowing retaliation claibecause they “seek to remedy separate wrongabirerg 2013
WL 4525659, at *3. That is so even though the two claimasé overlapping factand involve
the “same underlying retaliatory action” Blaintiff's termination. Id. at *2 (citation omitted);
cf. Harish 2016 WL 118171]1at *12 (holding the plaintiff waived histatelaw retaliation claim
underby bringing aNew York Whistleblower Actlaim because “[there is no daylight between
the two sets of allegatiohand the twdaws “are textually nearly identical because they are
amed at the same wrong”)



Grp., LLC No. 10€V-2638, 2011 WL 2326920, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. June 13, 2011) (holding
waiver provision does not bar Title VII clainGabrerg 2013 WL 4525659, at *3 (holding
waiver provision does not batate langender and disability discrimination claim€pllette
132 F. Supp. 2d at 274 (holding waiver provision does natibparate impact discrimination
claim).

2. ERISA Claim

a. Applicable Law

ERISA governs employee benefit plans offered and administered “by angyempl

engaged in commerce or in any industry or activity affecting commeg®lJ.S.C.

§ 1003(a)(1). Under ERISA, “civil action may be brought... by a participant or beneficiary

... to recover benefits due to him under the terms of his plan, to enforce his rights under the
terms of the plan, or to clarify his rights to future benefits under the terms pibthé 29

U.S.C. 81132(a)(1)(B). To prevail orsucha claim,”a plaintiff must establish the existence of
an employee benefit pldnHardy v. Adam Rose Ret. P|&857 F. Supp. 2d 407, 413 (S.D.N.Y.
2013),aff'd, 576 F.App’x 20 (2d Cir. 2014).

An employee benefit plan may be an “employee welfare benefit plan” or an “gBplo
pension benefit plan.” 29 U.S.C. § 1002(3)1 émployee welfare benefit plasa plan
“established or . . maintained for the purpose of providing for its participants or their
beneficiaries, through the purchase of insurance or otherwise,” various ineideility, death,

and unemployment benefits. 29 U.S.C. § 1002(An employee pension benefit plan is a plan

3 Excluded from thelefinition of “employee welfare benefit pi&:

(1) Payment by an employer of compensation on account of work performed
by an employee, including compensation at a rate in excess of the normal

10



“maintained by an employer . ta the extent that by its express terms or as a result of
surrounding circumstansesuch plan, fund, or program (- provides retirement income to
employees, ofii) results in a deferral of income by employees for periods extending to the
termination of covered employment or beydntt. § 1002(2)(A)*

ERISA, however, offers no functional definition of “plan.” The Supreme Court has
accordingly instructethatERISA applies only to those benefit programs that require the
implementation of atlongoingadministrativgprogram.” SeeFort Halifax Packing Co. v.
Coyne 482 U.S. 1, 11 (1987%ee alsdschonholz v. Long Island Jewish Med. @87, F.3d 72,
76 (2d Cir. 1996)dtating that ERISA subject matter jurisdiction depends upon the need for an
administrative program); Hardy, 957 F. Supp. 2dt413 (“The touchstone for determining the
existence of an ERISA plan is whether a particular agreement creates an ongomsticadive

scheme.’(citing Grimo v. Blue Cross/Blue Shigld4 F.3d 148, 151 (2d Cir. 1994))). Thus,

rate of compensation on account of performance of duties under other than
ordinary circumstances, such[asertimepay or other premiums];

(2) Payment of an employeenormal compensatian .on account of periods
of time during which the employee is physically or mentally unable to
perform his or her duties, or is otherwise absent for medical reasons
and

(3) Payment of compensation..on account of periods of time during which
the employee, although physically and mentally able to perform his or her
duties and not absent for medical reas(sush as pregnancy, a physical
examination or psychiatric treatmgnt. performs no dutigsuch as while
on vacation, military duty, serving as a juror or testifying, training, or on
sabbatical]

29 C.F.R. § 2510.3b).
4 Excluded from tk definition of “employee pension benefit plaae “payments made
by an employer to some or all of its employees as bonuses for work perfornesd, sudh

payments are systematically deferred to the termination of covered enguibgr beyond, or so
as to provide retirement income to employees.” 29 C.F.R. § 23(0)3—

11



ERISA is notimplicated wheréhe employer’s benefit program merakgquirest make a
“payment triggered by a single ev@rsuch as a employee’s terminatiomy where the
employets obligation does not require administration @ndatisfied by do[ing] little more than
writ[ing] a check” Fort Halifax, 482 U.S. at 12. This is because an employer’s promise —
absent an “ongoing administrative program or scliemé¢o “make aonetime, lumpsum
payment triggered by a single evenill rarely if ever implicate tB need for uniformity that
Congress sought when it included within ERISA a provision that preempted statelktwsg) to
benefit plans.”Okun v. Motefiore Med. Ctr793 F.3d 277, 279 (2d Cir. 2015) (citation and
guotation marks omitted). Accordingly, determine whethemaERISAplanrequires the
implementation of anngoing administrative scheme, the Second Circuit has instructed courts to
consider three factors: (Iywhether the employer’s undertaking or obligation requires
managerial discretion in its administration”; (@)hether a reasonable employee would perceive
an on@ing commitment by the employer to provide employee benefits”; arfd/(@ther the
employer was required to analyze the circumstances of each enipltgre@nation separately
in light of certain criteria.”Schonholz87 F.3d at 7§collecting cases) These factors, however,
“are not the exclusive factors that may be considered, and no one is determirtdainagy, 957
F. Supp. 2d at 414 (citation omitted).
b. Application

Defendant arguethat Plaintifffails to allege that itseveranceay plan is ceered by
ERISA and, accordingly, that Plaintif' ERISA claim must be dismisse(Def’s Mem. 5.) On
a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the Court’s revieis limited to facts stated on the face of the complaint
and in documents appended to the complaint or incatpd in the complaint by reference, as

well as to matters of which judicial notice may be takddertz Corp. v. City of New Yark

12



F.3d 121, 125 (2d Cir. 1993). Howevar,here the record contains the undisputed terms of the
disputed plan, ...a [c]ourt may decide the applicability of ERISA as a matter of ldveoster v.
Bell Atl. Tricon Leasing CorpNo. 93CV-4527, 1994 WL 150830, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 20,
1994)(citations omitted)seealso Forte v. BNP ParibadNo. 14€CV-8556,2015 WL 3604317,
at *2 (S.D.N.Y. June 8, 2015) (sanfeitations omitted) Here, Plaintiff has attached the
relevant portions of Defendant’s severance plan to his memorandum in opposition to the Motion.
(SeePl’s Mem. Ex. A (“Severance Plan”)Defendant does not disputee accuracy of these
portions or object to the Court’s considering this document, and inidedcites tahe
Severance PlanSeeDef.’s Reply6—7.) Accordingly, the Court considers both the allegations
containedn the Amended Complaint and the undisputechsof theSeverance PlanSee
Forte, 2015 WL 3604317, at *1 n.1 (consideriggverance plan pamphkibmitted by the
defendant “because it is both integral to the [aJmended [c]omplaint and incorporated in i
reference’and because the plaintiff “does not object to the Court’s considérng

The Court need not, however, apply the ttfBebonholZactorsat this time Even
assuming the Severance Plan is covered by ERI®ASeverance Platself provides that
employees areligible for severance paynlyif, among other things, theiteérmination is a
Qualifying Event.” (Severancd@h{ 2.) A “Qualifying Event’is definedas “an Employee
loses employment because of reorganization, elimination of a position, or depautback.”
(Id. 1 1) Here, Plaintiffrepeatedly alleges thae was “terminated” and that another employee
“replaced’him. (Am. Complf112, 24-25, 28-32, 35, 38, 41, 44-45, Rlintiff at no point
alleges that Defendant engaged in a reorganization, that his position wasteltmor that
Defendantidoptedcutbackghatcaused him to berminated Accordingly, the Amended

Complaint does natllegePlairtiff s eligibility for severance pay uedthe terms of the

13



Severance Plan.

Although Plaintiff has not requested leave to submit a second amended complaint, the
Court has considered whetheshould be given an opportunity to do so. Rule 15(a)(2) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure prowsdbat a party shall be given leave to amend “when
justice so requires.” “Leave to amend should be freely granted, but the dmirichas the
discretion to deny leave if there is a good reason for it, such as futilityaitaduindue delay, or
undue prejudice to the opposing partyih v. Metro. Life Ins. C9310 F.3d 84, 101 (2d Cir.
2002)(citations omitted) Here, there is no indication that Plaintiff's ERISA claim was made
bad faith, or that allowing Plaintiff to replead his claim would reisulindue delay or prejudice
to Defendant. Nodoes it “appear[beyond doubt that . [P]laintiff can plead no set of facts
that would entitle him to religfsuch that repleading would be futil®lilanese v. RusBleum
Corp., 244 F.3d 104, 110 (2d Cir. 200%)tation omitted). Accordingly, the Court dismisses
Plaintiff's ERISA claim without prejudice.

C. Supplemental Jurisdiction

Defendant arguethe Court should decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over
Plaintiff s New YorkWhistleblower Act claim. (Defs Mem. 6.) The Courtmay decline to
exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a claimif . . .[it] has dismissed all claims over which
it has original jurisdictiori 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3)Here,the Court has notisinissed
Plaintiff's Title VII claim. Because federal claims rematnere is no basis upon which the
Court may decline texercise supplemental jurisdiction.

[ll. Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, Defenddvitition To Dismiss igranted in parand

denied in part.Plaintiff's ERISA claim is dismissed without prejudick Plaintiff wishes to file

14



a second amended complaint, Plaintiff must do so within 30 days of the date of this Opinion.
Any newly filed complaint will replace, not supplement, the instant Amended Complaint, and
must contain all of the claims, exhibits, and factual allegations Plaintiff wishes the Court to
consider, as well as all changes to correct the deficiencies identified in this Opinion. If Plaintiff
fails to abide by the 30-day deadline, his claims may be dismissed with prejudice.

The Clerk is respectfully directed to terminate the pending Motion. (Dkt. No. 30.)

SO ORDERED.

Dated: March @ ,2019
White Plains, New York /ﬂ gt

TED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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